STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Supreme Court County  
Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

V.

JAKE LAKE,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002372

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED  
APR 23 2018  
RESPONDENT,  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals err in dismissing Petitioner's appeal where (1) counsel abandoned Petitioner following his guilty plea rendering his post-sentencing motion properly filed, (2) the state is judicially estopped from arguing the post-sentencing motion was not properly filed in light of the state's factual presentations in the PCR proceedings that the motions were properly filed, and (3) the doctrine of laches prohibited the state's argument that Petitioner's post-sentencing motion was not properly filed?

## STATEMENT

The long and tortured procedural history of Petitioner's case must be studied in detail in order to determine whether Petitioner's notice of appeal following resolution of his post-sentencing motion after his guilty plea was timely filed. The primary issue is whether the state is judicially estopped from positing one fact during the direct appeal process and a different fact during the post-conviction relief process. A secondary issue is whether laches prevents the state from making the argument it has presented for the first time on direct appeal.

### *Indictment & guilty plea*

A Lexington County grand jury indicted Petitioner for attempted murder (2011-GS-32-3107) on October 3, 2011. On October 4, 2012, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., to enter a guilty plea to the charge. Suzanne Mayes represented the state, and Frank McMaster represented Petitioner. Judge Young sentenced Petitioner to twenty-eight years' imprisonment.

### *Post-sentencing motions*

On October 9, 2012, Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion for reconsideration. App. 8-9. On December 4, 2012, Petitioner submitted a *pro se* motion to withdraw his guilty plea. App. 10. In the motion, Petitioner stated he "was under the belief that a plea negotiation had been reached between the state and [his] attorney for a sentence of five (5) years." App. 10. On April 12, 2013, plea counsel sent a letter to the Clerk of Court noting his representation of Petitioner at the guilty plea, his awareness of Petitioner's filing of the motion to reconsider, and his request to be notified of the hearing on the motion so that he could assist Petitioner. App. 11.

In 2013, while the post-sentencing motions remained pending, McMaster was arrested and charged with driving under the influence, failure to give or giving improper signal, and hit

and run involving property damage.<sup>1</sup> In the Matter of Frank Barnwell McMaster, 419 S.C. 37, 38-39, 795 S.E.2d 853, 854 (2017). McMaster pleaded guilty to DUI and improper turn, and the remaining charge was dismissed. Id. at 39, 795 S.E.2d at 854. McMaster paid a fine for his criminal offenses. Id.

In 2014, McMaster was arrested for use of a firearm while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, disorderly conduct, and damaging/tampering with a vehicle.<sup>2</sup> Id. On March 4, 2014, shortly after his arrest for the second set of criminal charges, McMaster was placed on interim suspension. Id.; In the Matter of Frank Barnwell McMaster, Appellate Case No. 2014-000334 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Mar. 4, 2014). Ultimately, McMaster pleaded guilty to unlawful carrying of a pistol and paid a fine. McMaster, 419 S.C. at 39, 795 S.E.2d at 854.<sup>3</sup>

At some point subsequent to McMaster's suspension, Sarah Mauldin of the Lexington County Public Defender's Office, was appointed to represent Petitioner.

*Post-conviction relief proceedings*

On March 5, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 45-54. His filing included a copy of his motion for reconsideration of sentence, which showed it had been filed with the Clerk of Court on October 9, 2012. App. 51. He informed the PCR court

---

<sup>1</sup> According to the Richland County Clerk of Court, Frank McMaster was arrested on these charges on April 29, 2013, a mere seventeen days after McMaster's letter to the court in Petitioner's case, and he entered his guilty plea on December 5, 2013.

<sup>2</sup> According to the Lexington County Clerk of Court, McMaster was arrested for these offenses on February 21, 2014, and entered a guilty plea on November 4, 2014.

<sup>3</sup> On January 11, 2017, this Court suspended Frank McMaster from the practice of law for thirty (30) months. In the Matter of Frank Barnwell McMaster, 419 S.C. 37, 795 S.E.2d 853 (2017). According to the agreement for discipline by consent to which McMaster entered, "the common thread in both incidents was alcohol abuse induced by depression associated with the dissolution of his marriage." Id. at 39, 795 S.E.2d at 854.

that his attorney “was supposed to arrange a hearing with the judge” on the post-trial motions. App. 50. Petitioner’s PCR filing also included two letters from the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., which were written in response to requests from Petitioner concerning his outstanding motions. App. 53-54. In the letters, Judge Young indicated the Lexington County Clerk of Court had no record of Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration. App. 53-54. In fact, the Clerk of Court *lost* the original motion for reconsideration. App. 8-9. The motion shows the Clerk scanned the original motion, but lost it subsequently. App. 8-9. A copy of the motion was placed in the file on August 11, 2015, and as of that date the motion had not been ruled upon. App. 8-9. Additionally, the Clerk noted “Patrick Schmeckpeper/AG Office to follow up w/ Judge Young b/c outcome affects disp of PCR.” App. 9.

In July 2015, Petitioner wrote to the Clerk of Court requesting the appointment of counsel in his PCR case. App. 56-57. On September 4, 2015, Jeffrey P. Bloom, a lawyer, wrote to the Clerk of Court requesting the appointment of counsel and noting that Petitioner had filed post-sentencing motions. App. 59. Mr. Bloom’s letter stated that Petitioner filed his post-sentencing motions *pro se*. App. 59. Importantly, Mr. Bloom copied “Walt Whitmire, Asst. Attorney General” on this correspondence. App. 59. On September 22, 2015, the Clerk of Court appointed David Allen to represent Petitioner in his PCR action. App. 61.

On March 7, 2016, the Honorable William P. Keesley entered a scheduling order, finding there was a pending motion to reconsider the underlying guilty plea and continuing the PCR proceeding beyond the April 2016 term. App. 63.

*Return to post-sentencing motions*

On April 1, 2016, Petitioner, through counsel, filed a brief in support of motion to reconsider sentence. App. 12-22. The state filed a response. App. 23-24. The state’s response

made no mention of hybrid representation. App. 23-24. The state never moved to dismiss the motion based on hybrid representation. App. 23-24. Instead, the state responded to the substance of the motion. App. 23-24. By an order filed on April 28, 2016, Judge Young denied Petitioner's motion to reconsider. App. 25. In the same order, he denied Petitioner's motion to withdraw his guilty plea as untimely filed. App. 25. The order never indicated any concern regarding hybrid representation. App. 25.

On May 6, 2016, Petitioner filed and served a notice of appeal concerning his guilty plea and post-sentencing motions. Pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR, Petitioner filed a written explanation to show there was an issue to be reviewed on appeal. In the explanation, Petitioner asserted the guilty plea was not made knowingly and voluntarily because attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill and the record demonstrated Petitioner did not understand the charge against him. Further, Petitioner asserted it was structural error for the court to find the plea was freely, voluntarily and intelligently made prior to hearing the state's recitation of the facts. The state did not respond to the notice of appeal or move to dismiss at that time.

*Return to post-conviction relief proceedings*

On June 23, 2016, the state, represented by the Attorney General's Office, filed its return and motion to dismiss without prejudice. App. 67-69. In the return, the state represented to the court that "Applicant, through counsel, moved to reconsider his sentence on October 9, 2012." App. 67. Additionally, the state informed the court that "Applicant filed a Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on May 9, 2016" and that the matter was "presently pending before the South Carolina Court of Appeals." App. 67. Thereafter, the state argued the matter was "currently on appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals," and that under the cited rule and statutory provision, "post-conviction relief [was] not available to the Applicant

because the direct appeal [was] pending in the appellate courts.” App. 68.<sup>4</sup> The state requested the application for PCR “be summarily dismissed without prejudice until such time as the direct appeal is resolved.” App. 68. The state mentioned no concerns regarding hybrid representation. App. 67-68.

By an order filed September 29, 2016, the Honorable William P. Keesley signed a consent order of dismissal without prejudice. App. 71-72. In the order, Judge Keesley found that “Applicant, through counsel, moved to reconsider his sentence on October 9, 2012, and to withdraw his guilty plea on December 4, 2012.” App. 71. The order also recounted Judge Young’s order denying the motions and Petitioner’s filing of a notice of appeal. App. 71. According to the court, “[t]he matter [was] presently pending before the South Carolina Court of Appeals.” App. 71. The judge found “post-conviction relief [was] not available to the Applicant because the direct appeal [was] pending in the South Carolina Court of Appeals” “at the present time.” App. 71.

Ultimately, the judge dismissed the PCR application without prejudice “until such time as the direct appeal is resolved.” App. 72. The order provided that Petitioner must file his PCR application within one year of the resolution of his direct appeal. App. 72. Importantly, the order was signed by the PCR judge, Petitioner’s PCR counsel, Petitioner, and the state, showing all agreed to the matters discussed in the order, including that plea counsel filed the motion for re-consideration. App. 72. The order voiced no concerns from any of the parties, including the state, regarding hybrid representation. App. 72.

---

<sup>4</sup> The return cites “Rule 227, SCACR.” App. 68. However, this rule no longer exists. Previously, Rule 227, SCACR, related to the review of orders in post-conviction relief matters.

*Direct appeal*

On February 27, 2017, undersigned counsel filed the initial brief of appellant and designation of matter on Petitioner's behalf. On June 30, 2017, Respondent filed a motion to dismiss and requested the timelines for filing his initial brief of respondent and designation of matter be held in abeyance pending the resolution of the motion. App. 1-26. Petitioner responded on July 20, 2017. App. 27-74. The state filed a reply on July 25, 2017. App. 75-82. On August 9, 2017, the Honorable Paul E. Short, Jr., dismissed Petitioner's appeal. App. 83-84. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on August 29, 2017. App. 85-101. In the petition, Petitioner requested the Court of Appeals rehearing the matter to address arguments made by Petitioner concerning judicial estoppel, laches, and abandonment of counsel. App. 85-101. At the Court's request, the state responded on September 28, 2017. App. 102-109. A three-judge panel of the Court of Appeals denied the petition on October 18, 2017. App. 110.

On November 17, 2017, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari follows. The state filed its return. On March 28, 2018, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari and ordered the parties to brief the issue presented. This brief of petitioner follows.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in dismissing Petitioner's appeal where (1) counsel abandoned Petitioner following his guilty plea rendering his post-sentencing motion properly filed, (2) the state is judicially estopped from arguing the post-sentencing motion was not properly filed in light of the state's factual presentations in the PCR proceedings that the motions were properly filed, and (3) the doctrine of laches prohibited the state's argument that Petitioner's post-sentencing motion was not properly filed.

The Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal. App. 83-84. The Court concluded Petitioner's notice of appeal was not served timely because his motion for reconsideration did not toll the time for filing and serving the notice of appeal. App. 83. The Court arrived at this conclusion after finding Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion for reconsideration while he was represented by counsel. App. 83. The Court failed to address Petitioner's arguments (1) that counsel had abandoned him rendering his filing timely, (2) that the state was judicially estopped from arguing the motions were not filed by counsel in light of the state's factual presentations in PCR proceedings, and (3) that laches prohibited the state's argument as it had sat on this argument for years. App. 83-84.

To support its argument to dismiss petitioner's appeal, the state relied on "plea counsel's letter" dated April 12, 2013, filed on April 15, 2013. App. 11. The letter reads as follows:

I represented Jake Lake at his guilty plea, which occurred on October 4, 2012. Mr. Lake has filed a Pro Se motion to reconsider and I respectfully request that I receive a notice as to the date of the hearing in order that I may assist him if possible. Also, Mr. Lake's father Magistrate Judge Robert H. Lake would like to receive notice of the hearing.

App. 11. One reading of the letter is that plea counsel *abandoned* Petitioner, as discussed *infra*.

Another reading of the letter is the one posited by the state – plea counsel continued with his representation of Petitioner. The letter evidences plea counsel’s intent to adopt Petitioner’s *pro se* motion as his own. This reading of the letter is exactly the one espoused by the state in the related PCR proceedings in the matter, but now disclaimed. Plea counsel did not disavow the motion or indicate he thought the motion was meritless. To the contrary, plea counsel indicated his desire to assist Petitioner with the adjudication of the motion.

#### *Abandonment*

Plea counsel abandoned Petitioner following the guilty plea; therefore, his filing of the motion was not the product of hybrid representation. In the letter to the Clerk of Court, plea counsel used the past tense, “represented,” to indicate that his attorney-client relationship no longer existed. Further, he sought notice of the date of the hearing so that he *may* assist Petitioner. This was not an affirmative indication that plea counsel would appear at the hearing or would assist Petitioner. This language indicated plea counsel had abandoned Petitioner. In fact, plea counsel put himself into the same category as Petitioner’s father in his request for notice of the date of the hearing. In light of plea counsel’s abandonment of Petitioner, Petitioner’s filing of his *pro se* motion was **not** a product of “hybrid representation.” The filing was entirely proper and adjudicated by the lower court.

Plea counsel’s letter to the Clerk of Court, plea counsel’s conduct following the guilty plea, including his personal illegal and unprofessional conduct, and plea counsel’s failure to diligently pursue adjudication of Petitioner’s post-sentencing motion demonstrate plea counsel’s abandonment of Petitioner. Due to plea counsel’s abandonment of Petitioner following the guilty plea hearing, Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration of his sentence was *not* the product of hybrid representation and tolled the time for filing a notice of appeal.

Pursuant to the Appellate Court Rules, “[t]rial counsel, whether retained, appointed, or Public Defender, shall continue representation of an accused until final judgment, including any proceeding on direct appeal,” unless an exception applies. Rule 602(e)(1), SCACR. Thus, retained counsel, such as McMaster, must represent a criminal defendant through appeal unless permitted to withdraw by a court. Rule 602(e)(4), SCACR. This is of no surprise in light of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Pursuant to the Rules, a lawyer may withdraw from representation only in certain circumstances, such as a client using a lawyer’s services to perpetrate a fraud. Rule 1.16, RPC, Rule 402, SCACR. None of those circumstances were present, yet plea counsel failed to represent Petitioner competently and diligently following the guilty plea as required. Quite simply, counsel abandoned Petitioner.

“An attorney who undertakes the conduct of an action impliedly stipulates to carry it to its termination and is not at liberty to abandon it without reasonable cause and reasonable notice.” Graham v. Town of Loris, 272 S.C. 442, 452, 248 S.E.2d 594, 599 (1978). “Conscience requires” the court “to charge the attorney alone with his gross dereliction of duty and not to visit its consequences upon an innocent client.” Id. at 452-453, 248 S.E.2d at 599.

“The rule that an attorney’s negligence may be imputed to his client and prevent the latter from relying on that ground for opening or vacating a judgment does not necessarily prevail in the event of the attorney’s abandonment or withdrawal from the case.” Id. at 452, 248 S.E.2d at 599. “Our law thus instructs that an exception to the general rule applies when the attorney’s inaction was the consequence of willful abandonment or withdrawal from the case.” Stearns Bank Nat. Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, LP, 373 S.C. 331, 342, 644 S.E.2d 793, 799 (Ct. App. 2007). Nevertheless, the general rule attributing the neglect of counsel to the client is not absolute. “Rather it is one that is to be applied rationally, with a fair recognition that justice to

the litigants is always the polestar.” Brown v. Butler, 347 S.C. 259, 265, 554 S.E.2d 431, 434 (Ct. App. 2001)(internal quotation omitted).

Thus, if the state’s current argument that McMaster was representing Petitioner at the time of the filing of the motion for reconsideration prevails, then the record demonstrated McMaster’s ultimate abandonment of Petitioner. According to McMaster’s letter, he would assist Petitioner during the post-sentencing motion hearing “if possible.” Either the letter indicated McMaster was adopting the motion as his own or that McMaster had abandoned Petitioner. Quite frankly, the state’s argument on appeal is that McMaster willfully abandoned Petitioner by not filing the motion and not ensuring the motion was adjudicated. This was not mere neglect on the part of plea counsel, as the state even recognized in its reply when it suggested plea counsel’s failure was a basis for ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a higher showing that negligence. In these circumstances, McMaster willfully abandoned Petitioner following the guilty plea hearing and his conduct – not filing the post-sentencing motion – should not be attributed to Petitioner. In conclusion, counsel abandoned Petitioner during a critical stage of the proceedings by failing to (1) file the motion for reconsideration, (2) ensure the expedient disposition of the motion, and (3) subsequently file a notice of appeal.

#### *Judicial Estoppel*

During the PCR proceedings, it was the state’s position that the motion was filed “through counsel.” App. 67. The state was aware of the nature of the filing as the pleading was in the Clerk’s file and publicly available. App. 8-9. The Clerk’s handwritten note on the motion indicated the Attorney General’s office was well aware of the motion and was following up on it. App. 8-9. Additionally, Petitioner attached the pleadings to his PCR application. App. 51-52. After concluding that plea counsel adopted the motion filed by Petitioner, the state represented to

the PCR court that the pending post-sentencing motion was filed “through counsel” in its return. App. 67. The state convinced the PCR court of this position as evidenced by the PCR court’s order using this same language in reference to the motion. App. 71-72. All parties signed the order evidencing their understanding and assent to the entirety of the order, including the language indicating the motion was filed “through counsel.” App. 72. The state is estopped from arguing a contrary position now.

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