STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAY 07 2018

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal from Lexington County
Court of General Sessions
Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-002372

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

JAKE LAKE, PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 874
Lexington, SC 29071
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly dismissed Petitioner's appeal as untimely because Petitioner's pro se post-plea motions, filed while he was represented by counsel, did not toll the time for serving his notice of appeal.

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing Petitioner's appeal, claiming his pro se post-plea motions were appropriate because he was abandoned by counsel. In the alternative, Petitioner claims the doctrines of judicial estoppel and laches bar the State from arguing the motions were not timely filed. The State disagrees with these assertions of error. First, Petitioner fails to recognize the Court of Appeals, and now this Court, cannot consider his arguments because the failure to timely file his appeal deprived the appellate courts of any jurisdiction over this matter. Plea counsel's representation was never terminated, thus the Lexington County Clerk of Court was barred from even accepting Petitioner's motions. Further, Petitioner failed to prove equitable defenses justify consideration of his belated appeal. If anything, the doctrine of unclean hands and Petitioner's misrepresentations to the courts justify the dismissal of his Appeal.

Petitioner's Motion is a Nullity; No Equitable Defenses are Applicable

Rule 203(b)(2) of South Carolina's Appellate Court Rules states, in pertinent part:

After a plea or trial resulting in conviction or a proceeding resulting in revocation of probation, a notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents **within ten (10) days after the sentence is imposed**. In all other cases, a notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment. When a **timely** post-trial motion is made under Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, the time to appeal shall be stayed and shall begin to run from receipt of written notice of entry of an order granting or denying such motion (emphasis added).

Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, provides, in pertinent part, that post-trial motions shall be made **within ten days** after the imposition of the sentence and that the time for appeal shall be stayed by a **timely** post-trial motion and shall run from the receipt of written notice of entry of

the order granting or denying such motion. Further, Rule 263(b), SCACR provides courts may not extend the time for serving a notice of appeal.

In Miller v. State, 388 S.C. 347, 697 S.E.2d 527 (2010), this Court stated:

Since there is no right to “hybrid representation” that is partially *pro se* and partially by counsel, substantive documents, with the exception of motions to relieve counsel, filed *pro se* by a person represented by counsel are not to be accepted unless submitted by counsel. State v. Stuckey, 333 S.C. 56, 508 S.E.2d 564 (1998); Foster v. State, 298 S.C. 306, 379 S.E.2d 907 (1989). Because petitioner was represented by counsel, the *pro se* motion was not proper, should not have been accepted, and should not have been ruled upon. **The motion was essentially a nullity.** We therefore vacate the order ruling on the motion and dismiss petitioner's notice of appeal as moot. We also take this opportunity to remind judges and clerks of court of our directive in Foster not to accept substantive documents, with the exception of motions to relieve counsel, filed *pro se* by a party who is represented by counsel.

(emphasis added).

In State v. Devore, 416 S.C. 115, 784 S.E.2d 690 (Ct.App. 2016), the Court of Appeals, relying on Miller, dismissed Devore’s appeal after determining it lacked appellate jurisdiction to consider defendant’s appeal because his *pro se* letter, sent seven days after his conviction, was not a proper notice of appeal pursuant to Rule 203, SCACR or a post-trial motion as described in Rule 29, SCRCrimP. Noting Devore was represented by counsel at the time he sent the letter, the court found the document could not qualify as a proper motion or notice of appeal because it was “essentially, a nullity.” Id. at 122, 784 S.E.2d at 694.

Despite Petitioner’s assertions to the contrary, the appellate courts simply do not have jurisdiction over this matter. While Petitioner attempts to sidestep the issue of jurisdiction by claiming the equitable defenses of judicial estoppel and laches, this Court simply does not have the jurisdiction to even consider such arguments because they are “legal nullities” in the eyes of the law.

Plea counsel's representation of Petitioner was never terminated; thus plea counsel represented Petitioner when he filed both of his post-trial motions. "The attorneys . . . of the respective parties in the court below shall be deemed the attorneys . . . of the same parties in the appellate court until withdrawal is approved and notice is given as provided in this Rule." Rule 264(a), SCACR. Additionally, Rule 602(e)(1), SCACR stipulates, except as otherwise provided, "[t]rial counsel, whether retained, appointed, or Public Defender, shall continue representation of an accused until final judgment, including any proceeding on direct appeal." *See also* Comment 4 to Rule 1.3, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR ("Unless the relationship is terminated as provided in Rule 1.16, a lawyer should carry through to conclusion all matters undertaken for a client.... [I]f a lawyer has handled a judicial or administrative proceeding that produced a result adverse to the client and the lawyer and the client have not agreed that the lawyer will handle the matter on appeal, the lawyer should consult with the client about the possibility of appeal before relinquishing responsibility for the matter."); Rule 1.16(c), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR ("A lawyer must comply with applicable law requiring notice to or permission of a tribunal when terminating a representation.").

In both Miller and Devore, this Court and the Court of Appeals, respectively, found pro se filings from defendants represented by counsel were "essentially . . . nullit[ies]." Miller, 388 S.C. at 347, 697 S.E.2d at 527, *see also* Devore, 416 S.C. at 123, 784 S.E.2d at 694. In Miller, this Court instructed the courts of the state that pro se documents, with the exceptions of motions to relieve counsel, could not even be considered as accepted by the lower court, much less ruled upon. Miller, 388 S.C. at 347, 697 S.E.2d at 527.

Because no proper motion for reconsideration or notice of appeal was filed within ten days of Petitioner's conviction, the Court of Appeals did not have jurisdiction over Petitioner's

appeal and thus properly dismissed the matter. See Devore at 122–24, 784 S.E.2d at 694–695; also Hill v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, 389 S.C. 1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010) (“The service of a notice of appeal is **a jurisdictional requirement**, and the time for service may not be extended by this Court.”); Canal Ins. Co. v. Caldwell, 338 S.C. 1, 5, 24 S.E.2d 416, 418 (Ct. App. 1999) (in a civil case, pointing out that Rule 203(b), SCACR, requires a party to serve his notice of appeal within thirty days after receiving written notice of the entry of a final order or judgment, and failure to do so divests this court of jurisdiction “and results in dismissal of the appeal”); see also Henning v. Kaye, 307 S.C. 436, 437, 415 S.E.2d 794, 794 (1992) (“[T]he South Carolina Appellate Court Rules are not mere technicalities but provide the parties and this Court with an orderly mechanism through which to guide appeals in this State.”).

Petitioner fails to understand that his post-trial motions do not exist in the eyes of the law. It was impossible for plea counsel to “adopt Petitioner’s pro se motion[s] as his own” if, legally, they never existed. In Devore, the Court of Appeals specifically stated that such a nullity deprived it of appellate jurisdiction over the entire case because, with the post-trial motions nullified, “there was no proper notice of appeal served or post-trial motion made within ten days of imposition of the sentence.” Devore, 416 S.C. at 123–24, 784 S.E.2d at 694–95. Thus, the Court of Appeals did not have the jurisdiction to even consider Petitioner’s equitable defenses.

Similarly, Petitioner fails to acknowledge that practical problems associated with his position. Notably, this Court’s acceptance of Petitioner’s argument would greatly burden the courts and clerks of courts of this State by allowing a litigant to file his own motions and act independently of his attorney the moment he believes he is “abandoned” by counsel, without any evidence supporting the assertion. This, combined with allowing attorneys to later “adopt” the

pro se filings of their clients would allow defendants to sidestep time limits and filing requirements for the courts. Perhaps the most dangerous consequence of accepting Petitioner's position would be that defendants could intentionally act pro se and file their own independent motions for the purposes of confusing and manipulating the courts and the State. Defendants, feeling "abandoned" may flood the courts with motions to delay trial or disrupt the appellate process. Should this Court overturn the decision of the Court of Appeals and grant Petitioner a direct appeal, criminal defendants state-wide will, without question, try in earnest to replicate such a result and thereby waste the courts' time and resources.

Finally, even though the State did not reference the nullity of Petitioner's post-trial motions in prior filings, such omission does not preclude the appellate courts from ruling on the issue. See Rule 220(c), SCACR ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal).

Petitioner is not entitled to Equitable Defenses

Even if the Court of Appeals had jurisdiction to evaluate Petitioner's equitable defenses, Petitioner fell woefully short of proving their merit.

A. Unclean Hands

The State contends Petitioner is not entitled to equitable defenses because if, as he alleges, the State misrepresented inconsistent positions to the PCR Court regarding the author of Petitioner's post-trial motions, Petitioner also participated in that misrepresentation and failed to correct the record.

"The doctrine of unclean hands precludes a [party] from recovering in equity if he acted unfairly in a matter that is the subject of the litigation to the prejudice of the [other party]." First Union Nat. Bank of South Carolina v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 511 S.E.2d 372 (Ct. App. 1998).

“He who comes into equity must come with clean hands. It is far more than a mere banality. It is a self-imposed ordinance that closes the door of the court of equity to one tainted with inequitableness or bad faith relative to the matter in which he seeks relief.” Emery v. Smith, 361 S.C. 207, 603 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2004) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Petitioner alleges the State’s signing of the consent order dismissing the PCR application without prejudice was the State’s implicit assent to the representation that the post-trial motions were filed through counsel. More seriously, he claims the only explanation for why the State agreed, during Petitioner’s original PCR action, that Petitioner’s post-trial motions were filed through PCR counsel was to mislead the courts. Not only does this assumption ignore the common, and likely, explanation of a simple mistake, but Petitioner cannot articulate how the State would have benefitted from such an effort.

Petitioner is unable to recognize his own logic would also apply to him: the “only explanation” as to why Petitioner signed the order would be to deceive the Court. Petitioner is equally, if not more, responsible for the misrepresentation to the PCR court because he knew of the inaccuracy in the consent order. Petitioner, knowing he filed the post-trial motions, signed off on the mischaracterization of his motions instead of attempting to correct the language of the order. Moreover, Petitioner has far more to gain from such a misrepresentation than the State: Petitioner is using this confusion to resurrect his long-expired appeal while the State gained no benefit from dismissing Petitioner’s PCR application without prejudice.

Because of his unclean hands, Petitioner is prohibited from seeking equitable relief.

B. Judicial Estoppel

In his petition, Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals misapprehended plea counsel’s letter to the court filed April 15, 2013. As noted by Petitioner, plea counsel’s letter stated:

I represented Jake Lake at his guilty plea, which occurred on October 4, 2012. Mr. Lake has filed a Pro Se motion to reconsider and I respectfully request that I receive notice as to the date of the hearing in order that I may assist him if possible. Also, Mr. Lake's father Magistrate Judge Robert H. Lake would like to receive notice of the hearing.

Petitioner claims the court erroneously believed this letter was evidence that plea counsel continuously represented Petitioner from the time of his plea hearing through the date of the hearing, when the letter was actually plea counsel's attempt to adopt the pro se motion as his motion. Under Petitioner's skewed interpretation of the facts, plea counsel's representation of him terminated at the moment the hearing ended and was then restarted months later by the simple act of plea counsel filing a letter with the plea judge. However, such an interpretation is not consistent with South Carolina law. Plea counsel was Petitioner's attorney at the time the motions were filed because he had yet to complete or terminate his representation. See Rule 602(e)(1), SCACR (stating "[t]rial counsel, whether retained, appointed, or Public Defender, shall continue representation of an accused until final judgment, including any proceeding on direct appeal"), Rule 264(a), SCACR ("The attorneys and/or guardians ad litem of the respective parties in the court below shall be deemed the attorneys and guardians of the same parties in the appellate court until withdrawal is approved and notice is given"). Thus, Petitioner was required to file any and all post-trial motions through plea counsel.

The State would also contend that the doctrine of judicial estoppel does not apply to the instant case. For judicial estoppel to apply, a party must show:

(1) Two inconsistent positions taken by the same party or parties in privity with one another; (2) the positions must be taken in the same or related proceedings; (3) the party taking the position must have been successful in maintaining that position and have received some benefit; (4) the inconsistency must be part of an intentional effort to mislead the court; and (5) the two positions must be totally inconsistent.

Cothran v. Brown, 357 S.C. 210, 592 S.E.2d 629 (2004). Moreover, “[t]he doctrine of judicial estoppel is an equitable concept and should be applied sparingly, with clear regard for the facts of the particular case.” Id. In the instant case, the State’s confusion over the authorship of the post-trial motions was not part of any intentional effort to mislead the court. As referenced above, any “inconsistency” originated from Petitioner’s statements in his PCR application.

Furthermore, the “inconsistent” statements were not made for the State’s benefit; Petitioner is unable to describe what this benefit was. Notably, the statements were present in only two documents: the State’s Return and Motion to Dismiss Without Prejudice and the Order of Dismissal Without Prejudice. Petitioner’s Exhibits 6 and 7. The State was not attempting to use this minor “inconsistency” to its advantage in either situation; indeed, it sought only to dismiss Petitioner’s motion without prejudice and allow him to refile his PCR application after the completion of his direct appeal, as required by South Carolina law. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(B) (1985) (requiring the completion of an applicant’s direct appeal before he may file an application for PCR). Further, the State maintains Petitioner has one year from the completion of his appeal to file a new application.¹ Thus, Petitioner is unable to show the State benefitted from the “inconsistent” positions.

Finally, judicial estoppel “generally applies only to inconsistent statements of fact.” Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey, 327 S.C. 242, 489 S.E.2d 477 (1997). As noted by the Miller and Devore courts, Petitioner’s pro se motions are a nullity, meaning this Court does not have jurisdiction over his appeal. The question of this Court’s jurisdiction is ultimately a matter of law, meaning judicial estoppel is not an appropriate means of recourse for Petitioner.

In his brief, Petitioner attempts to sidestep this issue by arguing that “fact[s] may inform the legal conclusion to which this this Court ultimately arrives as facts often inform the legal

¹ The State, however, takes no stance on the merits of Petitioner’s potential PCR claims.

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